No. 89779-4

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 68744-1-I

#### KATHIE COSTANICH,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES (DSHS), SANDRA DURON and JOHN DOE DURON, CAROL SCHMIDT and JOHN DOE SCHMIDT, BEVERLY PAYNE and JOHN DOE PAYNE, JAMES BULZOMI and JANE DOE BULZOMI, ROBERT STUTZ and JANE DOE STUTZ, INGRID McKENNY and JOHN DOE McKENNY,

Respondent

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW



MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Appellant COURT OF SEALS DIV I

#### **

#### INTRODUCTION

The appellate court previously upheld that far from being abusive, Ken and Kathy Costanich provided unsurpassed foster care to some of the most difficult children in the system. These chidren were thriving until, as the Ninth Circuit held, DSHS misrepresented material evidence and perhaps outright lied, while investigating abuse claims. Yet in her second state court appeal, the appellate court held that Costanich has no remedy, either because she "voluntarily" removed her daughters after DSHS moved to terminate their dependency and remove them, or because a state actor fabricating evidence to falsely label an unsurpassed foster parent a child abuser and revoke her license is not sufficiently outrageous to warrant a jury trial. This Court should accept review and reverse.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court erroneously dismiss Costanich's negligent-investigation claim on summary judgment, finding fact questions as to whether DSHS's investigation was negligent, but nonetheless ruling as a matter of law that DSHS did not make a harmful placement decision even though its negligent and outrageous conduct plainly coerced Costanich to give up her daughters temporarily, fearing that she would otherwise lose them forever?
- 2. Did the trial court erroneously dismiss Costanich's outrage claim on summary judgment, where the Ninth Circuit determined that in the course of this civil investigation, DSHS made material misrepresentations and may have intentionally fabricated evidence to label Costanich, an unsurpassed foster parent, a child abuser?
- 3. Should this Court reverse the statutory-cost award, if Costanich prevails on either or both summary-judgment arguments?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. For 20 years, Costanich provided unsurpassed care to some of the needlest and most difficult children in the system.

Kathy and Ken Costanich ("Costanich") had been foster parents since 1983, caring for violent, sexually aggressive children, and medically fragile infants, "some of the needlest and most difficult

foster children in the system." Costanich v. Dep't of Soc. & Health **Servs.**, 138 Wn. App. 547, 551, 156 P.3d 232 (2007), rev'sd in part on other grounds, Costanich v. DSHS, 164 Wn.2d 925, 927, 194 P.3d 988 (2008)<sup>1</sup>; Slip Op. at 1. In July 2001, Costanich was raising six children, three male foster children, K (age 15), J (age 12), and P (age 10); one male under a dependency guardianship, F (age 17); and two sisters also under dependency guardianships, E (age 8), and B (age 4).<sup>2</sup> Slip Op. at 1-2. "All of these children had been victims of abuse or neglect, and many had severe behavioral, developmental, and medical problems." *Costanich*, 138 Wn. App. at 552; Slip Op. at 2. At the time, DSHS described the Costanich home as a "unique and valuable resource . . . unsurpassed by any foster home in the State." Id. Costanich was a DSHS trainer and the president of Foster Parents of Washington State ("FPAWS"), and has received the Foster Parent of the Year Award. *Id.*; CP 1511.

E and B had both lived with Costanich since infancy. Slip. Op. at 2. E was placed with Costanich when her drug-and-alcohol-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court reviewed only the trial court's attorney-fee award.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A "Dependency guardian" is "appointed by the court . . . for the limited purpose of assisting the court in the supervision of the dependency," where a legal "Guardian . . . has the legal right to custody of the child pursuant to such appointment." RCW 13.34.030(5) & (10).

addicted mother abandoned her. CP 674-75, 819, 1512-13. At the mother's request, B was placed with Costanich when she was just four days old. CP 819, 1513.

E and B are both enrolled members of the Kalispel Indian Tribe. Slip. Op. at 2. With the Tribe's (and the mother's) permission, Costanich became their dependency guardian in 1996 and 1998. *Id.*; CP 1513. The guardianship orders required Costanich to provide the mother with visitation, consult the Tribe and the mother on cultural and religious issues, and maintain contact with the Tribe. *Id.* Though both girls were doing very well in Costanich's care, the Tribe would not allow her to adopt. *Id.*; CP 1460, 1464, 1467.

B. DSHS concluded that Costanich was emotionally abusive, failing to interview the children's therapists and doctors, and ignoring others emphatically reporting that Costanich was not abusive.

In summer 2001, DSHS's investigator, Sandra Duron, began investigating fourteen-year-old K's allegation to his therapist that Costanich abused some of the children in her care. Slip Op. at 2. These investigations are common in the foster-care community given many foster children's significant emotional and behavioral issues. CP 1515. K's allegations focused largely on Costanich's use of profanity, but Costanich openly acknowledged that she swore,

though never at the children. Slip Op. at 2-3; CP 1517. Costanich swore around the children to take the "power" out of profanity, which was effective with a "houseful of angry, sexually abused little boys, who when they first came into the house swore like little sailors." *Id.* 

During its five-month investigation, DSHS removed P and J without notice. Slip Op. at 3; CP 1516. In November 2001, DSHS proposed that Costanich could keep E and B if she would accept DSHS's imminent abuse determination, waiving any administrative appeal. Slip Op. at 3; CP 1519. Costanich refused. *Id*.

In December, DSHS informed Costanich that DSHS found that physical-abuse allegations were "inconclusive," but that Costanich's use of profanity constituted emotional abuse. CP 117-19, 1516, 1518.<sup>3</sup> On March 14, DSHS told Costanich that it had upheld the emotional abuse finding after internal review. Slip Op. at 3. Costanich subsequently requested administrative review. *Id*.

This entire time, no one at DSHS ever interviewed the children's doctors or therapists. CP 1517-18. Talking to these providers, or reading their letters, would have revealed their agreement that removing the children would be harmful:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In a prior appeal discussed in full below, the Court of Appeals already held that Costanich's profanity was not directed at the children and was not abusive. *Costanich*, 138 Wn. App. at 560-62.

- K's therapist opined that removing K from the Costanich home would harm his emotional and mental health and cause a "significant escalation of behavior problems." CP 255.
- J's doctors simply could not understand removing J from the Costanich home, and feared that it was due to DSHS "politics." CP 251.
- E and B's doctor opined that taking the girls away from Costanich would "cause emotional post-traumatic stress disorder, and lead to irreparable, life-long emotional harm." CP 258.

"Other witnesses also pointed out that Duron's report contained evidence and statements they never made." Slip Op. at 7. For example, Duron quoted F's GAL as stating that Costanich threatened to "chain the little shit to the bed," but in a sworn statement, the GAL denied making the statement or even speaking to Duron about F. *Id.* Duron also quoted an aide saying that Costanich "always" called E profane names, but the aide swore that she had never seen Costanich direct profanity at one of the children. *Id.* 

"Also contrary to Duron's report, witnesses' sworn letters expressed positive descriptions of the Costanich foster home." *Id.* Indeed, the three aids and a foster-parent Duron spoke to reported that Duron deliberately "twisted their words," wanting Costanich to be guilty, and refusing to believe any statement to the contrary. CP 260-61, 264-65, 1452-53, 1517-18. The children's doctors, therapists, aids, GALs and CASAs told DSHS stating that the

children were not abused, but were thriving in the Costanich home and should remain there. Slip Op. at 7-8; CP 250-66, 1418-21, 1452-58, 1516-17.

### C. DSHS pushed the Kalispel Tribe to take jurisdiction and remove E and B from Costanich's home.

As this was going on, DSHS was urging the Tribe to take jurisdiction and remove E and B from Costanich's care. Slip Op. at 3-4. When the Tribe refused, DSHS filed a motion to terminate Costanich's guardianship of E and B just four days after Costanich requested administrative review. *Id.*; CP 658, 1400, 1521, 1629. DSHS's motion was supported by investigator Duron's declaration. Slip Op. at 3-4.

Upon receiving DSHS's report, the Tribe assumed jurisdiction on April 12, 2002, the same day as DSHS's contested removal and termination hearing. *Id.*; CP 683-86, 1521. DSHS agreed to the Tribe's jurisdiction, but per the Tribe's request, continued to exercise "courtesy supervision" of the girls, conducting in-home visits and reporting to the Tribe. CP 659, 684, 1618. Costanich also agreed to Tribal jurisdiction – she would have done anything the Tribe told her to do to keep her girls and saw no point in fighting the Kalispel Tribe's

jurisdiction over Kalispel Indian children. CP 1522, 1525. Seeing no "choice in the matter," she "just agreed and prayed." *Id*.

In June 2002, Costanich signed an "Agreed" Order, requiring the girls to live on the reservation with tribal elders – complete strangers – for one month. CP 679-82. The order refers to this as a "vacation" to soften the girls' removal from Costanich. CP 1524. The Tribe had never before ordered the girls to spend time on the reservation without Costanich. CP 1523-25.

Leading up to their separation, the girls had watched DSHS remove their brothers from the Costanich home. CP 1523. The girls had never before been separated from Costanich and their disabilities made the entire ordeal very difficult to understand. CP 819-20, 1523. The Tribe had to physically remove the screaming and crying girls from Costanich's arms while they begged her not to leave. CP 1525.

A few weeks later, Costanich was allowed to take the girls over the weekend while their caretaker was sick. *Id.* When returning to the reservation, five-year-old B began shaking, crying and vomiting, begging Costanich not to leave her again. CP 1526. Costanich again had no choice. *Id.* Her worst fears were coming true – removal was irreparably harming her children. *Id.* 

## D. The ALJ overturned DSHS's abuse findings and license revocation, finding that the children were not emotionally abused, but in fact were thriving in Costanich's care.

On August 16, 2002, DSHS revoked Costanich's foster care license. Slip Op. at 4. Costanich appealed both the license revocation and the abuse finding. *Id.* The administrative law judge ("ALJ") held 19 days of evidentiary hearings, taking testimony from 49 witnesses. *Id.* The ALJ overturned DSHS's license revocation and abuse finding, ruling that the children were not emotionally abused, but were thriving in Costanich's care. *Id.* 

#### E. In a prior appeal, Division One affirmed the ALJ.

DSHS appealed, and the DSHS review board reversed the ALJ's decision. Slip Op. at 4. Costanich appealed, and the Superior Court reversed the review judge's final administrative decision, awarding Costanich fees. *Id.* at 5. In a prior appeal, Division One set aside the review judge's decision, reinstated the ALJs decision, affirmed the superior court's fee award, and awarded Costanich fees on appeal. *Id.* The appellate court held that "'although DSHS was justified initially in its concern about Costanich's use of profanity, the evidence before the ALJ shows that DSHS was not substantially justified in revoking her license once it became aware of the

problems with Duron's investigation." *Id.*, *quoting Costanich*, 138 Wn. App. at 564.

## F. The Ninth Circuit previously ruled that Duron made material misrepresentations and may have fabricated evidence while investigating Costanich.

While Costnich's administrative appeal was pending in the superior court, she filed a separate superior court action against DSHS and six DSHS agents, asserting, among other things, 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims and various torts including negligent investigation. Slip Op. at 5-6. DSHS removed the matter to federal court, where it was held pending the state court appeal. *Id.* at 6. On cross-motions for summary judgment, the District Court dismissed all federal claims and declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state tort claims. *Id.* Costanich and DSHS both appealed. *Id.* 

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that "deliberately fabricating evidence in civil child abuse proceedings violates the Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment when a liberty or property interest is at stake, and that genuine issues of material fact exist on the question of deliberate fabrication." *Costanich v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 627 F.3d 1101, 1108 (9th Cir. 2009) (footnote omitted); Slip Op. at 6. The Court held that "[t]he errors in

Duron's report are not questions of tone or characterization but actual misrepresentations," raising genuine issues of material fact as to whether her statements violated Costanich's due process rights.

Costanich, 627 F.3d at 1113-14; Slip Op. at 8. As just a few examples, produced evidence:

- That Duron misquoted and misrepresented witness statements;
   Duron's report stated she interviewed 34 people, but she later admitted that she had only brief contact with 18 of the identified witnesses;
- That Duron's report stated that she spoke to three therapists and received a report from a fourth, but she later admitted that she spoke to no medical professionals; witnesses denied the statements Duron attributed to them in quotations; and
- That contrary to Duron's report, many witnesses, including doctors and therapists expressed positive descriptions of the Costanich home and opined that the children were thriving there.

Slip Op. 7-8; 627 F.3d at 1111-13. But the Ninth Circuit affirmed summary judgment that DSHS was immune as a matter of law, holding that the due process right to be free from the deliberate fabrication of evidence during a civil investigation was not clearly established when DSHS negligently investigated Costanich. Slip Op. at 8; 627 F.3d at 1116.

# G. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's rulings dismissing Costanich's outrage and negligent investigation claims on summary judgment.

Following these two appeals, Costanich pursued her remaining tort claims in state court, including her negligent-investigation and outrage claims. Slip Op. at 8. The negligent investigation claim pertained only to DSHS's actions surrounding E and B's guardianship. *Id.* Granting in part DSHS's motion for summary judgment, the court dismissed Costanich's claims for outrage, malicious prosecution, and abuse of process, but denied DSHS's motion to dismiss Costanich's negligent-investigation claim, finding genuine issues of material fact as to whether Costanich has standing to sue as a *de facto* parent or guardian. *Id.* at 8-9; CP 1089.

On the eve of trial, the court revisited DSHS's summary judgment motion on negligent investigation, requesting additional briefing from the parties on the application of this Court's decision, *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). Slip Op. at 9. The trial court presumed that DSHS's investigation was "biased or faulty," but dismissed Costanich's negligent-investigation claim, ruling as a matter of law that DSHS made no harmful placement decision, where Costanich "voluntarily" consented to the Tribe's jurisdiction after DSHS moved to terminate her dependency

guardianship and remove E and B. *Id.* The appellate court affirmed on appeal. Slip Op. at 18. Both parties moved to publish, but the court refused.

#### **REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW**

A. The Appellate Court's decision is in conflict with this Court's decisions in *Roberson v. Perez* and *Tyner v. DSHS*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

There are two elements to an actionable negligent-investigation claim: (1) whether DSHS's investigation falls below the standard of care; and (2) whether DSHS made a harmful placement, such as removing a child from a nonabusive home, or placing a child in an abusive home. *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 45-46. In *Roberson*, this Court held that DSHS did not make a harmful placement decision, where Honnah Sims "voluntarily" sent her son to live with grandparents after learning that police reports identified her as among those abusing children as part of the "Wenatchee sex ring." 156 Wn.2d at 36, 46. It appears that Sims was not even under investigation at the time. *Id.* at 36. Crucial to this Court's holding is that Sims sent her son to his grandparents' weeks before DSHS took any action to remove the child. *Id.* at 36, 51.

The trial court misapplied *Roberson* in dismissing Costanich's negligent-investigation claim. Before Costanich

reluctantly agreed to Tribal jurisdiction, DSHS completed its shoddy investigation and labeled Costanich an abuser, while pressing the Tribe to remove E and B. CP 1400, 1521. When the Tribe did not act fast enough to take Costanich's girls, DSHS moved to terminate Costanich's dependency, giving its biased and faulty report to the dependency court and to the Tribe. *Id.* Costanich "agreed" to Tribal jurisdiction on the same day as the termination hearing, making the horrific Sophie's Choice that it was better to capitulate to the Tribe's wishes than to risk losing her children entirely. CP 1521-22.

Costanich's decision was not remotely "voluntary" as compared to the placement decision Sims made in *Roberson*. This Court should accept review.

The appellate court's treatment of *Tyner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) conflicts with its own holding in that matter, as well as this Court's opinion adopting the appellate court's analysis, but reversing its ultimate conclusion. In *Tyner*, this Court adopted the appellate court's holding that a trial court order will act as a superseding, intervening cause precluding State liability for negligent investigation, only if the State presents all material information to the trial court. *Tyner*, 141 Wn. 2d at 88. But this Court reversed the appellate court's holding that "legal causation"

[was] lacking as a matter of law because in its view all material information was presented to the court," holding that DSHS failed to give the trial court information the jury could have found material.

141 Wn.2d at 86. The same is plainly true here – DSHS gave the dependency court and the Tribe a biased and faulty report that omitted myriad witness statements praising the Costanich home and opining that removal would harm the children irreparably.

The appellate and trial courts ignored that DSHS forced Cosanich's hand by prejudicing the dependency court and the Tribe. DSHS should not escape liability as a matter of law simply because Costanich took a chance to save her daughters before DSHS could take them away. This Court should accept review.

## B. The decision conflicts with the appellate court decision Corey v. Pierce County. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In *Corey v. Pierce County*, Barbara Corey presented evidence that her superior in the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney's Office publically accused her of criminal conduct despite knowing that an internal investigation revealed little substance. 154 Wn. App. 762-63, 225 P.3d 367, *rev. denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1016 (2010). The appellate court affirmed the trial court's decision to send Corey's outrage claim to the jury, where the false accusation was

"particularly loathsome" to Corey, a longtime public servant. *Corey*, 154 Wn. App. at 764-65. (distinguishing *Dicomes v. State*, 113 Wn.2d 612, 630-31, 782 P.2d 1002 (1989), holding that "mere insults and indignities" are not actionable). Under *Corey*, an outrage claim must go to the jury if "reasonable minds could differ on whether the conduct was sufficiently extreme to result in liability." *Corey*, 154 Wn. App. at 763.

The Ninth Circuit previously held that there are issues of material fact as to whether Duron fabricated evidence impugning Costanich. *Costanich*, 627 F.3d at 1108. It should go without saying that reasonable minds could find that outrageous. And calling Costanich – a longtime, unsurpassed foster-parent – a child abuser is equally "loathsome," if not more so, as calling Corey – a longtime prosecuting attorney – a criminal. This Court should accept review.

C. This matter presents the significant constitutional question of whether there is a due process right to be free from material misrepresentations and intentional fabrications in a civil investigation conducted by a State actor. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

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