RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 11, 2014, 3:26 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89779-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATHIE COSTANICH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES (DSHS), SANDRA DURON and JOHN DOE DURON, CAROL SCHMIDT and JOHN DOE SCHMIDT, BEVERLY PAYNE and JOHN DOE PAYNE, JAMES BULZOMI, ROBERT STUTZ and JANE DOE STUTZ, INGRID McKENNY and JOHN DOE McKENNY,

Respondents.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

THOMAS R. KNOLL, JR. Assistant Attorney General WSBA 38559, OID 91023 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 360-586-6300

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

and other exciting events such as the Kalispel Tribal Pow Wow. CP at 1594-95.

DSHS was not a party to the Kalispel Tribe's visitation order, nor did DSHS provide any input or opposition to the creation of the order. CP at 659, 1593-96. At the end of the 30 day summer vacation, the Kalispel Tribe returned both EN and BN to the Costanich home.

G. Procedural History

While Ms. Costanich was pursuing an administrative appeal of her license revocation, she also filed a personal injury action against DSHS and six individually named defendants alleging both state tort claims and federal civil rights claims.⁷

The Defendants removed the federal civil rights claim to federal court. State Defendants were granted summary judgment based on qualified and absolute immunity. The district court granted the State's motion for summary judgment and declined to exercise jurisdiction over the state tort causes of action. Ms. Costanich unsuccessfully appealed the dismissal of her § 1983 claims. Costanich v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 627 F.3d 1101, 1117 (2010). Specifically, the Ninth Circuit concluded the foster care licensee's rights were not clearly established

 ^{7 42} U.S.C. § 1983; CP at 7.
 8 During the dependency of the federal court appeal, the state law claims were stayed by King County Superior Court.

regarding liberty and property interests and therefore, the state social workers were entitled to qualified immunity.

With Ms. Costanich's § 1983 claims finally resolved, the King County Superior Court placed her remaining state law claims back on the active docket on March 31, 2011. CP at 78. Ms. Costanich filed a motion for partial summary judgment (CP at 79-107) and DSHS cross-moved for summary judgment. CP at 388-409. On December 2, 2011, the Honorable King County Superior Court, Judge Jay V. White, granted DSHS' motion for summary judgment in part. CP at 1086-91. The court granted DSHS' motion as to intentional infliction of emotional distress (outrage), malicious prosecution, and abuse of process, but denied its motion with regard to negligent investigation. CP at 1086-91. However, on the eve of trial (April 3, 2012), Judge White reconsidered his prior ruling on DSHS' motion regarding negligent investigation. CP at 1662-80. Judge White requested that the parties submit additional briefing regarding the applicability of Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2005), to the remaining claim of negligent investigation. The judge did not ask for additional facts. On April 13, 2012, the Court dismissed Ms. Costanich's negligent investigation claim on summary judgment as a matter of law. CP at 1679. The appeal was timely filed. CP at 1652-55.

⁹ Ms. Costanich's briefing contained 205 pages and a new declaration signed by her with 107 paragraphs of alleged new facts. CP at 1378-1583.

On November 4, 2013, the Court of Appeals, Division I affirmed Judge White's dismissal of Ms. Costanich's complaint on summary judgment in an unpublished opinion. Both parties filed a motion to publish the aforesaid decision and they were denied on December 16, 2013. Ms. Costanich timely filed a Petition for Review.

IV. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The Appellate Court's Decision Is Consistent With This Court's Decisions In Roberson v. Perez or Tyner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv. RAP 13.4(b)(1)

The necessary elements to a claim of negligent investigation include proof that DSHS (1) "gathered incomplete or biased information" during the course of its abuse investigation and (2) that said investigation results in a "harmful placement decision such as removing a child from a nonabusive home . . ." M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 149 Wn.2d 589, 602, 70 P.3d 954 (2003) (emphasis added). Subsequent to M.W., this Court held that harmful placement decisions could not be premised upon the theory of "constructive removal." Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d at 46. The dismissal of Ms. Costanich's negligent investigation claim is in accord with the holding in Roberson.

In *Roberson*, parents, Jonathan and Honnah Sims, claimed that a negligent investigation resulted in a harmful placement of their child. Both Jonathan and Honnah were named suspects in an abuse and/or neglect referral received by the Department of Social and Health Services.

Id. at 46. Before the investigation commenced, Jonathan and Honnah Sims voluntarily relinquished their parental rights to their son (Daniel) and sent him to stay in Kansas with his grandmother. The decision to send Daniel to Kansas was a "preemptive move" on the part of Daniel's parents to keep him at arms' length from a Child Protective Services (CPS) investigation. Id. at 46. Daniel stayed with his grandmother for approximately seven months. Id at 36. Later, Jonathan and Honnah Sims filed a lawsuit claiming that their voluntary seven month separation from their son was the result of a negligent investigation.

This Court labeled the Sims' claim as a "constructive placement" and declined to extend the cause of action for negligent investigation to such "constructive placement" decisions and noted that the extension of the negligent investigation claim to that end was "beyond the statute." *Id.* at 46.

The Costanich case is analogous to *Roberson* for several reasons. First, Ms. Costanich had the ability to contest transfer of EN and BN's dependency cases to the Kalispel Tribe, but she voluntarily agreed to this transfer without objection. CP at 1674-75 (footnote 10). This agreement to transfer jurisdiction is identical to the action of the parents in *Roberson*, who voluntarily sent their son to Kansas to keep him from being interviewed by DSHS.

Second, Ms. Costanich's negligent investigation claim is premised upon the same speculative constructive placement theory that was rejected by the *Roberson* court. It would be pure conjecture to assume what, if anything, the King County Juvenile Court would have done with DSHS' motion to terminate guardianship if the case had remained in state court. Similarly, in *Roberson*, "(CPS) filed a dependency petition concerning [Daniel], with an accompanying motion for a court order to take him into custody . . .;" the social workers received an "order to take [Daniel] into custody and place him in shelter care . . ."; and obtained "an order instructing [Daniel's] grandmother to turn him over to the authorities." *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d. at 51-52 (Sanders, J. dissenting). None of these actions were considered by this Court sufficient to constitute a placement decision because the Sims had already sent their son out of state and the orders remained unexecuted.

Third, just as in *Roberson*, once EN and BN's case was transferred to tribal court, the Defendants no longer had the authority to remove the girls from Ms. Costanich's care. Perhaps even more strikingly, DSHS never went so far as to receive an order to take EN and BN into custody, nor did DSHS obtain an order requiring anyone to turn over EN and BN to authorities. Markedly, DSHS was provided no opportunity for input into the Kalispel Tribe's decisions. CP at 659. In fact, no removal (placement decision) regarding EN and BN ever occurred while the girls were within

the jurisdiction of state court. 10 Notably, these children remained with Ms. Costanich long after the tribe obtained jurisdiction. CP at 1606.

Finally, as this Court noted in *Roberson*, claimants asserting constructive placements largely control the extent of their damages. *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d 33 at 46. This is certainly true in the case at bar. The Plaintiff set in motion the alleged harmful placement, by agreeing to a 30 day "summer vacation" with the Kalispel Tribe without DSHS being a party to that agreement. There is no evidence that this summer vacation was based upon any action by DSHS, let alone the motion to terminate guardianship that was dismissed months earlier.

Based on the foregoing, Ms. Costanich's voluntary actions with regard to the Kalispel Tribe are reasons why this case was dismissed pursuant to *Roberson* and accordingly do not warrant review by this Court.

The appellate court accurately distinguished *Tyner v. Dep't of Soc.* & *Health Serv.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) and therefore the present matter is not in conflict with it. In *Tyner*, a DSHS social worker filed a dependency petition alleging that Mr. Tyner sexually abused his children. Based upon that petition, the court entered an order prohibiting Mr. Tyner from having contact with his children. Subsequent to filing the

¹⁰ The Defendants had no authority to remove EN and BN from the Plaintiff unless the King County Juvenile Court had granted their motion on April 12, 2002.

¹¹The Court of Appeals on page 13 of its opinion astutely observed that the 30 day summer vacation with the Kalispel Tribe was actually consistent with the terms Ms. Costanich originally agreed to when she became EN and BN's guardian. *See* orders, App. A and B.

dependency petition, the social worker concluded his abuse investigation against Mr. Tyner and determined the allegations to be unfounded. However, the social worker failed to inform the court of his finding and the court continued to restrict Mr. Tyner's contact with his children. The restriction on Tyner's contact with his children was directly related to the social worker's failure to update the court on the result of the abuse investigation against Mr. Tyner. First, a motion to terminate the dependency guardianship by itself is not a placement decision because the King County Superior Court never had the opportunity to rule on DSHS' motion to terminate before the Kalispel Tribe took jurisdiction. CP at 1610-11. Second, EN and BN never were removed from Ms. Costanich's care unlike the children in the *Tyner* case. CP at 1606. Third, there is no evidence that DSHS represented before the Kalispel Tribal Court that Ms. Costanich is verbally abusive to the children in her care. Finally, there is no evidence that the tribal court received and/or relied on DSHS' abuse investigation report to create the June 2002 Agreed Visitation Order. Typer is not instructive to this matter as asserted by Ms. Costanich.

Since *Tyner* can easily be distinguished from the present matter, *Tyner* does not provide a basis for this Court to review Ms. Costanich's negligent investigation claim.

B. The Appellate Court's Decision Is Consistent With Its Decision In Corey v. Pierce County. RAP 13.4(b)(2)

The dismissal of Ms. Costanich's outrage claim can easily be distinguished from *Corey v. Pierce County*, 154 Wn. App. 752, 225 P.3d 367, *review denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1016 (2010) and therefore no conflict is present. In *Corey*, the Plaintiff (a Pierce County Prosecutor) was accused by her supervisor of "criminal behavior" despite knowing that an internal investigation revealed little substance. The Plaintiff's supervisor further implied that she mishandled public funds while serving as a prosecutor. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's decision to let Plaintiff's outrage claim go to the jury based upon the forgoing and also because the accusation against her was "particularly loathsome" since she was a long time public servant.

Unlike *Corey*, there is substantial evidence to support the allegation that Ms. Costanich emotionally abused children in her care. Most of the children in her care reported that they were called things such as bitch, fucker, and cunt. These children still stand by their prior claims and two of the children have signed declarations in support of the State's motion for summary judgment reaffirming their testimony.¹² Ms. Costanich admits to telling one African American child in her care to

¹² Notably, the summary judgment record in this case was different from the summary judgment record before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals insofar as the complaining child witnesses had not reaffirmed the accuracy of their allegations of abuse by Ms. Costanich.

"move his black ass." In Ms. Costanich's administrative licensing revocation appeal, the Administrative Law Judge found that Ms. Costanich rubbed urine soaked sheet on the face of her 10 year old foster child. CP at 526. Significantly, Ms. Costanich had a long history of abuse allegations (27 previous abuse referrals). This fact certainly stands in stark contrast to the absence of any evidence of misconduct on the part of the Plaintiff in *Corey*. For these reasons, the Court should deny review.

C. This Matter Does Not Involve A Significant Constitutional Question Of Whether There Is A Due Process Right To Be Free From Misrepresentations and Possible Fabrications In A Civil Investigation Conducted By A State Actor Because That Question Was Already Answered By The Ninth Circuit. RAP 13.4 (b)(3)

The Constitutional question as to whether Ms. Costanich's due process rights were violated was an issue that was directly decided in the Ninth Circuit and is now the law of the case and this Court should give that decision full faith and credit. *Costanich v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 627 F.3d 1101 (9th Cir. 2010). The Ninth Circuit held that due process rights asserted by Ms. Costanich were not clearly established at the time when her case arose and therefore, the Defendants were entitled to qualified immunity. *Id.* at 1116. Accordingly, the Ninth Circuit affirmed dismissal of Ms. Costanich's 1983 civil rights claims.

Moreover, because the federal court dismissed Ms. Costanich's due process claims they were not before the trial court when summary

judgment was entered, nor were they before the Court of Appeals when that decision was affirmed. The attempt to raise them now for the first time on appeal, in direct conflict with the Ninth Circuit decision is highly improper and should be rejected.

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should deny review because all Constitutional questions have been litigated in a separate proceeding and subsequent review of that proceeding would be barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

D. This Case Contains No Issues Of Substantial Public Interest As Alleged By Ms. Costanich. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Although not raised in her issues presented for review, in subsection D of her Petition for Review, Ms. Costanich raises two issues asserting that foster parents have no remedies. The facts of this case belie the accuracy of those assertions. With regard to a foster care license revocation, foster care licensees are afforded a statutory right to appeal which was successfully utilized by Ms. Costanich in this case (*Costanich v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 138 Wn.App 547, 156 P.3d 232 (2007)) and she was awarded \$75,000 in attorney's fees (*Costanich v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 164 Wn.2d 1012, 203 P.3d 380 (2008)). Regarding future claims involving allocations involving the deliberate fabrication of material evidence in a civil investigation, the Ninth Circuit's decision in Ms. Costanich's case clearly establishes the law thereby entitling foster

parents the opportunity to bring a § 1983 civil rights claim when such facts actually exist. *See Costanich*, 627 F.3d at 1114 (9th Cir. 2010). ("... going forward, officials who deliberately fabricate evidence in civil child abuse proceedings which result in the deprivation of a protected liberty or property interest are not entitled to qualified immunity.")

Ms. Costanich's allegation that foster families are remedy-less when DSHS negligence forces them to make harmful placement decisions confuses two important legal principles. First, foster parents do not have a claim for negligent investigation because they are not within the class of persons protected under RCW 26.44.010 (see App. F), which creates the statutory cause of action. See Blackwell v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 131 Wn. App. 372, 127 P.3d 752 (2006) (cause of action for negligent investigation is limited to parents, guardians, and custodians).

Second, the law is clearly established that if a person falls within a protected class of persons governed by RCW 26.44.050 (see App. G) then they have a cause of action for negligent investigation if it results in a harmful placement by DSHS. As noted previously, DSHS did not remove the girls from Ms. Costanich, she voluntarily agreed to the assumption of jurisdiction by the Kalispel Tribe. Under this Court's decision in *Roberson*, Ms. Costanich's constructive placement of the girls negated her claim of negligent investigation against DSHS.

For these reasons, this Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, this Court should deny review of Ms. Costanich's Petition for Review pursuant to RAP 13.4 (see App. H).